
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 
 
The following are questions received from past and current solicitation cycles. Thereafter, 
questions will post with a specific date as received from the offerors and responded to by the 
U.S. Probation Office. Offerors should consult this list of questions/answers prior to 
submitting their proposals.  All questions must be submitted via e-mail to 
ILSPTreatmentServices@ilsp.uscourts.gov by Friday, August 1, 2025, at 4:30 P.M. and all 
questions will be posted/answered by Tuesday, August 5, 2025, at 12:00 PM, with final 
proposals due by Friday, August 8, 2025, at 4:30 PM. 
 
 
Q: An offender in services at my agency has requested that I disclose his/her treatment 
records to a third party. Can I do this? Do I have get the permission of the probation office 
first? 

A: The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), allows 
federal vendors to provide individual federal clients access to their records or, alternatively, to 
request that a provider “mail a copy of the protected health information at the individual’s request” 
[Title 45 C.F.R. 164.524(c)(3)]. Vendors may release treatment information directly to requesting 
third parties in accordance with HIPAA regulations. Vendors should be aware, however, pursuant 
to Page C-45(b)(1) through (7) of the Blanket Purchase Agreement, the vendor is still required to 
notify the United States Probation and Pretrial Services Office of any request for treatment 
information prior to making the disclosure. For complicated matters or specific questions, it is 
recommended that vendors seek legal advise from your own counsel since HIPAA compliance is 
ultimately your obligation. Vendors may also allow defendant/offender access to their treatment 
records in accordance with HIPPA regulations. 
 
 
Q: Our state’s licensing agency wants to review our federal files as part of our licensing 
audit. I know the federal files must be maintained as confidential. Can I let the state 
auditors review the federal files? 

A: Whether an entity seeking to conduct an audit or evaluation is permitted to do so is a matter 
that each vendor must resolve under the federal regulations discussed below. 
 
I. The HIPAA Privacy Rule Section 165.512 of the HIPAA privacy rule sets forth “[u]ses and 
disclosures for which an authorization or opportunity to agree or object [by the patient] is not 
required.” 45 C.F.R. § 165.512. Among such allowed disclosures are those for “health oversight 
activities”: 
 

(d) Standard: Uses and disclosures for health oversight activities. 
(1) Permitted disclosures. A covered entity may disclose protected health 
information to a health oversight agency for oversight activities authorized by 
law, including audits; civil, administrative, or criminal investigations; inspections; 
licensure or disciplinary actions; civil, administrative, or criminal proceedings or 
actions; or other activities necessary for appropriate oversight of: 
(i) The health care system; 
(ii) Government benefit programs for which health information is relevant to 
beneficiary eligibility; 
(iii) Entities subject to government regulatory programs for which health 



information is necessary for determining compliance with program standards; or 
(iv) Entities subject to civil rights laws for which health information is necessary 
for determining compliance. 
Id. § 164.512(d) 
 
The privacy rule defines “health oversight agency” as follows: Health oversight agency means an 
agency or authority of the United States, a State, a territory, a political subdivision of a State or 
territory, or an Indian tribe, or a person or entity acting under a grant of authority from or contract with 
such public agency, including the employees or agents of such public agency or its contractors or 
persons or entities to whom it has granted authority, that is authorized by law to oversee the health 
care system (whether public or private) or government programs in which health information is 
necessary to determine eligibility or compliance, or to enforce civil rights laws for which health 
information is relevant. Id. at 164.512 (emphasis added). Notwithstanding that it is a non-
governmental entity, CARF would qualify as a “health oversight agency” if either the probation office 
grants it oversight authority or the probation office authorizes the vendor to grant CARF oversight 
authority. Of course, CARF would have to be otherwise “authorized by law to oversee the health care 
system.” Presumably, state laws in the districts where CARF has conducted audits authorize CARF 
to oversee treatment facilities. Thus, the privacy rule allows health care providers (which are “covered 
entities”) to disclose protected health information to “health oversight agenc[ies] for oversight 
activities authorized by law.” This could potentially include state, federal, or nonprofits such as CARF. 
Whether an entity qualifies as a health oversight agency, however, is an issue for each vendor to 
resolve under § 164.512 and state law. 

 
II. The Drug Treatment Confidentiality Regulations Section 2.53 of the drug treatment 
confidentiality regulations allows federal, state, and local governmental agencies to review treatment 
records if authorized by law to regulate the vendor's activities. 42 C.F.R. § 2.53(a)(1)(i). In addition 
“a quality improvement organization performing a utilization or quality control review” or an entity 
“determined by the program director to be qualified to conduct [] audit or evaluation activities” may 
review treatment records. Id. § 2.53(a)(1)(ii) & (a)(2). If the vendor determines that any of the 
foregoing entities are authorized to have access to treatment records under § 2.53(a), the reviewing 
entity must “agree[] in writing to comply with the limitations on redisclosure and use in [§ 2.53(d)].” 
Section 2.53(d) essentially limits an auditor to disclosing and using treatment information that was 
disclosed during an audit to notify the treatment provider of the auditor's evaluation. Section 2.53(d) 
also provides for disclosure and use to investigate or prosecute a program, or a person holding the 
records, if the agency obtains a court order under 42 C.F.R. § 2.66. In sum, the HIPAA privacy rule 
allows auditors to have access to records if they are employed by a “health oversight agency” and 
they are performing “oversight activities authorized by law.” The drug treatment confidentiality 
regulations also allow access so long as a § 2.53 compliant form is signed by the auditor who 
qualifies under § 2.53(a). Attached is a draft form demonstrating what the drug treatment 
confidentiality regulations would require an auditor to sign before receiving access to drug treatment 
records. Vendors should currently be using a form similar to this. The regulations do not specify that 
such a form need be completed for each file reviewed. Rather, they state that when an auditor 
reviews “patient records,” she must sign a written agreement to comply with the § 2.53 limits on 
disclosure. [This is interpreted] as simply requiring one written agreement for each audit or review 
of multiple records. A sample release form for these purposes can be found on this website in the 
Vendor Information/Forms section. 



Q: In order to comply with state substance abuse licensure requirements, I must 
complete an intake assessment on each individual referred for services. The USPO didn’t 
authorize an intake assessment on the program plan. Can I complete an assessment and 
charge for it anyway? Can I refuse to begin treatment until the USPO authorizes an intake 
assessment? 

A: No and No. The Blanket Purchase Agreement (BPA) between the vendor and the U.S. 
Probation/Pretrial Services Office states on page C-1, “The vendor shall provide services strictly in 
accordance with the program plan for each defendant/offender. The government shall not be liable 
for any services provided by the vendor that have not been authorized for that defendant/offender 
in the program plan.” 
 
Oftentimes, a USPO has enough supporting documentation regarding an offender’s substance 
abuse history, that it is not necessary for the USPO to request an assessment to know that an 
offender/defendant is in need of treatment. USPO’s have at their disposal a presentence 
investigation report, institutional treatment and adjustment reports, and they have also 
administered the Texas Christian University Drug Screen (TCUDS) prior to making the 
treatment referral. 
 
If the vendor must complete an assessment for state licensure, purposes, the vendor should still 
complete an assessment. The vendor may not, however, charge the government for this 
assessment. If the USPO has authorized individual counseling sessions, it would be appropriate 
for the vendor to spend the initial counseling sessions completing the state- required assessment. 
If the USPO has not authorized individual counseling sessions, the vendor must completed the 
state-required assessment on the vendor’s time. The vendor should factor this possible scenario 
into the price bid for services during the contract solicitation cycle. 
 
 
Q: My BPA with the probation office says I have to keep all federal files separate from 
other client files. Does this mean that I also can’t put federal offenders/defendants in 
services with other clients? 

A: No. You are correct that your BPA requires in section section C that, “The vendor shall 
segregate defendant/offender files from other vendor records.” This separation is required only 
for the actual treatment files, not the clients themselves. The vendor, may place federal 
defendants/offenders in group counseling sessions with other non-federal clients. For example, a 
cognitive-behavioral treatment group of federal offenders and state offenders would be 
appropriate under this contract. The vendor should, however, check with other contracted 
agencies to ensure those agencies are in agreement with such a “mixed” group. The vendor 
would also be cautioned about placing federal offenders/defendants in a group with non-criminal 
justice clients. 
 
Q: I have been subpoenaed by a defendant/offender’s attorney to testify in court. How do I 
proceed? 

A: If you are requested or subpoenaed by an attorney to appear in court, you should immediately 
contact your assigned contract specialist. The BPA with the probation/pretrial services office 
does provide in section C for the event of vendor testimony. Your contract specialist will guide 
you through this process. 
 



Q: Will officers inform our agency about defendants/offenders who are HIV positive or 
who have been diagnosed with AIDS? 

A:The U.S. Probation Office policy regarding disclosure of HIV to third parties is governed by 
Guidelines for U.S. Probation and U.S. Pretrial Services Officers Supervising Person Who Have 
Been Exposed to the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) or Who Have Acquired Immune 
Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), as approved by the Judicial Conference Committee on Criminal 
Law. In short, we are not authorized to disclose HIV/AIDS information without written 
informed consent by the defendant/offender. (There are some exceptions for custodial 
situations). In addition, we are bound by state law in this regard. Please remember that universal 
precautions should be used in all cases. 
 
Received July 3, 2025 
 
Q: I started looking at these and filling them out and have a question regarding section B. 
It looks like for each project code, there is a “base year” and then “option years” 1-4. Can 
you help explain what this is? The previous contracts have looked different, and I just want 
to make sure I’m completing it correctly. 
 
A: It is important to start by reading the entire solicitation document. SECTION L provides the 
offeror instructions for the proposals, and the offeror should pay careful attention to the 
instructions and requirements for proposal submission.  
 
The term for this Blanket Purchase Agreement is twelve (12) months with a start date of October 
1, 2025, with a provision that shall allow the Government to unilaterally extend the agreement 
for an additional four (4) years, at four (4) twelve (12) month intervals, at the Government’s 
discretion. 
 
Received July 7, 2025 
 
Q: If we have multiple locations we want to have considered within a contract, would we 
need to fill out separate proposals for each location…or just specify those locations in the 
Background Disclosure located in Attachment B?  
 
A: The vendor must submit a separate, completed RFP for each BPA in which the vendor is 
interested. Each RFP references a specific catchment area. If the vendor has a site in more than 
one catchment area, the vendor must respond and submit a completed RFP packet for each 
appropriate corresponding BPA number in which that vendor is interested in providing services. 
Submission of proposals should be specific to the particular BPA. 
 
Section L provides specific directions for completing the proposal. Each Request for Proposal 
(RFP) references a specific catchment area. The offeror must have at least one site within the 
catchment area.  If the offeror has multiple sites within the same catchment area as defined in the 
RFP, the offeror should specify those locations in the Background Disclosure in Attachment B. 
The offeror shall list the full address(es) of each performance site where services will be 
provided (as well as all performance sites a subcontractor will utilize) and, if utilizing multiple 
performance sites, specify which project codes or services will be provided at each site. 
 
 
 



Received July 10, 2025 
 
Q: For the mental health and co-occurring RFPs, can you please clarify the following:  
 
Practitioners providing integrated treatment services for co-occurring disorders shall be a 
master’s or doctoral level practitioner who is licensed and/or certified in the scope of practice 
and meet the standards established by their state regulatory board. These services could also 
be conducted by a provisionally licensed master’s level practitioner under the supervision of a 
licensed professional, in accordance with state licensing standards 
 
Illinois does not offer a specific “provisional license” as other states do…such as 
neighboring Missouri.   
 
1- Can we interpret what is in bold to mean that non-licensed master’s level staff can 

see the clients for services as long as they are receiving supervision toward licensure 
from a licensed professional?   

2- Does Licensed Professional Counselors (LPCs) and Licensed Social Workers 
(LSWs) qualify as licensed professionals…or is the correct interpretation for these 
proposals to only allow for Licensed Clinical Professional Counselors (LCPC) and 
Licensed Clinical Social Workers (LCSW) 

 
A: (1) According to Illinois state law, a non-licensed master’s level clinician can see clients for 
services if they are receiving supervision toward licensure from a licensed professional.  
(2) LPCs and LSWs are considered licensed professionals. Their limitation is that they cannot be 
in private practice or provide services without supervision. According to Illinois state law, LPCs 
and LSWs can provide mental health and co-occurring services to clients under the supervision 
of a qualified supervisor; an individual licensed at the clinical level (LCPC or LCSW). 
 
Received July 22, 2025 
 
Q:  I am working on completing the required paperwork and I have questions about the 
reference section.  
 
Can I put the federal probation office down as a reference? Although I have never been 
awarded a federal contract, I have been working with different agencies that had federal 
contracts since starting my professional career in 2007.  Guidelines for Preparation of 
Offeror's References - (attachment D) Page L- 5of 15 - it states the following: 
 
  "The Offeror shall provide three references (Federal, State, or local government agencies 
and/or private organizations), using Attachment D, for whom the Offeror has provided the 
same or similar type of treatment and other services identified in this RFP within the past 3 
years. (I believe this allows me to use USPO office in Benton, as I have provided 6 years of 
all required services, except polygraphs, while employed at previous agency.) 
Offerors who are currently awarded an agreement with the USPO/USPSO agency 
soliciting these services, are not required to provide references. Agreements with 
other federal agencies, even if for same or similar type of services, are required to provide 
references. 
 
Provide the name, agency and title, phone number and e-mail address for the contact 
person. It is the responsibility of the Offeror to notify references the government reserves 



the right to contact any reference and consider the information provided as part of its 
responsibility determination. 
Note: references should not include current USPO/USPSO employees, or other U.S. Courts 
employees." 
 
A:  Because you are requesting to contract services with our office, you will not be able to use 
the Federal Probation Office as a reference.  As noted on Page L- 5 of 15 under Guidelines for 
Preparation of Offeror's References – (attachment D), “references should not include current 
USPO/USPSO employees, or other U.S. Courts employees." 
 
Received July 22, 2025 
 
Q: What happens if we are unable to provide all services that are listed in the RFP?  
 
A: Providers must be able to provide all services listed in the RFP in order to be deemed 
acceptable. Please see Section L of the RFP for more information.  
 
Received August 1, 2025 
 
Q.  

1) Background Disclosure (Attachment B):   
a)  Is the offeror required to submit copies of business and/or operating licenses as required by 

state and local laws? 
b) Is the offeror required to submit copies of monitoring reports which demonstrate 

compliance with federal, state, and local fire, safety and health codes? 
 

2) Staff Qualifications (Attachment C): 
a) Is the offeror required to submit job descriptions for each staff position providing direct 

delivery of services under the solicitation? 
 

3) Offeror’s References (Attachment D): 
a) Is the offeror required to provide letters of reference with the solicitation? 

 
A. 

1) Background Disclosure (Attachment B): 
Yes, the offeror is required to submit copies of business and/or operating licenses as required 
by state and local laws and copies of monitoring reports which demonstrate compliance with 
federal, state, and local fire, safety and health codes. Please refer to Section K – 
Representations, Certifications, and Other Statements of Offeror; Preparation of Background 
Disclosure (Attachment B). 
 

2) Staff Qualifications (Attachment C): 
Yes, the offeror is required to submit job descriptions for each staff position providing direct 
delivery of services under the solicitation. Please refer to Section K – Representations, 
Certifications, and Other Statements of Offeror; Preparation of Staff Qualifications 
(Attachment C). 
 

3) Offeror’s References (Attachment D): 
Yes, the offeror is required to provide letters of reference with the solicitation. Offerors who 
are currently awarded an agreement with the USPO/USPSO agency soliciting these services, 
are not required to provide references. Please refer to Section K – Representations, 
Certifications, and Other Statements of Offeror; Preparation of Offeror’s References 
(Attachment D).  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS
	Q: Our state’s licensing agency wants to review our federal files as part of our licensing audit. I know the federal files must be maintained as confidential. Can I let the state auditors review the federal files?
	Q: In order to comply with state substance abuse licensure requirements, I must
	Q: My BPA with the probation office says I have to keep all federal files separate from other client files. Does this mean that I also can’t put federal offenders/defendants in services with other clients?
	Q: I have been subpoenaed by a defendant/offender’s attorney to testify in court. How do I proceed?
	Q: Will officers inform our agency about defendants/offenders who are HIV positive or who have been diagnosed with AIDS?

